

# DOWNTOWN VISIONING AND STRATEGIC PLAN



A GEORGIA DOWNTOWN RENAISSANCE FELLOWSHIP PROJECT UPDATED JULY 2025

#### CITY OF ELBERTON

#### A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE DOWNTOWN MASTER PLAN

- WHEREAS: The Georgia Department of Community Affairs and the Georgia Department of Economic Development have established the Georgia Rural Zone program that offers tax incentives to revitalize rural downtown areas by encouraging job creation, investment in downtown properties, and renovation of existing buildings; and
- WHEREAS: To apply for the Georgia Rural Zone program, the City of Elberton must meet the eligibility requirements through an application process; and
- WHEREAS: The City of Elberton has applied for assistance from the Northeast Georgia Regional Commission in preparing the application for the 2025 cycle of the Georgia Rural Zone program; and
- WHEREAS: To comply with the program requirements, the Northeast Georgia Regional Commission has made minor updates to the Downtown Master Plan that the Carl Vinson Institute performed in 2023 to incorporate elements that the Georgia Rural Zone program requires; and
- WHEREAS: The updated Downtown Master Plan has been reviewed by the City Manager; and,
- NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Mayor and Council believe the Downtown Master Plan provides a clear vision by outlining strategic actions in order to create a strong foundation for future prosperity within the downtown.
- BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor and Council hereby approve and adopt the official Downtown Master Plan for the City of Elberton, attached hereto as Exhibit "A".

RESOLVED this 7<sup>th</sup> day of July, 2025.



ATTEST:

CITY OF ELBERTON, GEORGIA

R. Daniel Graves, Mayor

Cindy D. Churney, City Clerk





# **CORE TEAM MEMBERS**



SAM NASH RIGGS 2023 Georgia Downtown Renaissance Fellow Daniel Graves Elberton Mayor

Kevin Eavenson Elberton City Manager

**Crystal Beebe** Elberton Main Street Manager

Cindy Churney Elberton City Clerk

Caitlyn Dye Select Elbert Executive Director

This road is older than El carried over it by Post Rid Creek Church was built in Washington's Administration, coach ran between Elberton times a week, stopping at Hotel which stood on the s court house in Elberton, merchants were brought ov 1878 when the first railroad With the coming of Rur Mr. Giles made the first County over this road on

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

The Georgia Downtown Renaissance Fellowship5
Our Partners
City of Elberton   Main Street Elberton6
DDA Board of Directors6
Georgia Municipal Association6
Georgia Cities Foundation7
Carl Vinson Institute of Government7
UGA College of Environment + Design7
Purpose of this Document9
Scope of Work11
City of Elberton Overview13
SWOT Analysis14
Analysis of Distress15
Infrastructure Analysis16
Elberton Public Square Traffic Arrangement and Improvements
Rear Parking   Alleyway Access Improvements
Corridor Improvements48
Granite Bowl
Acknowledgements60

# ROAD

erton. Mail was trs before Falling 1788 and during Later a stage Lexington three the old Globe te of the present Stocks for local r this road until came to Elberton. I Free Delivery clivery in Elbert

















ent + Design OF GEORGIA PROC \* ELBERTON GRANITE BICENTENNIAL MEMORIAL FOUNTAIN \* \* \* COMMEMORATING THE ZOOTH ANNIVERSARY OF AMERICAN INDEPENDENCE \* \* \* 1776 - 1976

TWO CENTURIES OF ADVANCEMEN FROM AMERICA'S FOUNDING IN 1776 TO THE EXCENTENSIAL FROM AMERICA'S FOUNDING IN 1776 TO THE EXCENTENSIAL FROM AMERICA'S FOUNDING IN 1776 TO THE EXCENTENSIAL FROM ADVANCEMENT AND PROGRESS — IN AGRICULTERS AND INDUSTRY IN OVERLOPMENT OF MAURAL RESOURCE. IN EDUCATIONAL AND CULTURAL ACTIVITIES IN FOUCATIONAL AND CULTURAL ACTIVITIES. IN INFROMME



# THE GEORGIA DOWNTOWN RENAISSANCE FELLOWSHIP

A component of the Georgia Downtown Renaissance Partnership, the Georgia Downtown Renaissance Fellowship pairs emerging design professionals from the University of Georgia College of Environment + Design with local governments to enhance downtown development in communities across Georgia.

Note: this document was updated in 2025 by the Northeast Georgia Regional Commission to incorporate additional information on behalf of the City of Elberton.

Graduate-level student fellows are selected for their design and communication skills as well as overall commitment to community design. Throughout the 12-week program, Renaissance Fellows work directly with their partner city, producing renderings and plans collaboratively in a studio environment at UGA's Carl Vinson Institute of Government. Fellows hone their designs and planning expertise under the direction of four full-time design and planning staff. With backgrounds ranging from historic preservation and landscape architecture to graphic design, these experts help guide the creation of professional-level plans and renderings produced by student fellows during the program.

Since 2013, Georgia Downtown Renaissance Fellows have assisted 27 communities throughout the state. With the assistance of the Georgia Municipal Association and the Georgia Cities Foundation, Elberton was selected as one of two communities to take part in the 2023 Georgia Downtown Renaissance Fellowship. The support of these funding partners and a generous grant from the Riverview Foundation allowed this planning effort to take place without any cost to Elberton. Sam Nash Riggs, a graduate student studying landscape architecture at UGA's College of Environment + Design, worked directly with Elberton City Manager Lanier Dunn and Main Street Director Crystal Beebe to address specific design opportunities in Elberton. Riggs incorporated local priorities to create design solutions and develop a vision for several key locations downtown. This project had three primary goals: to create a more accessible and pedestrian-friendly traffic pattern around the public square; to improve connectivity between the square and surrounding corridors and public parking areas; and to extend the square to include more flexible space for community events.

## PARTNERS

CITY OF ELBERTON | MAIN STREET ELBERTON R. Daniel Graves, Mayor

ELBERTON CITY COUNCIL Carey Butler Terry Burton Troy Colquitt Rick Prince Kyle Parham

DDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS John Jenkins, Chairman Amanda Lucas Bailee Burton Gerardo De Leon Rick Prince Quinn Floyd

Kevin Eavenson, City Manager Crystal Beebe, Main Street Manager Cindy Churney, City Clerk Lanier Dunn, City Manager (previous)

GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION Cindy Eidson, Director of Economic and Community Development Chris Higdon, Community Development Manager

GEORGIA CITIES FOUNDATION Pam Sessions, President

#### CARL VINSON INSTITUTE

OF GOVERNMENT Danny Bivins, Senior Public Service Associate Kaitlin Messich, Public Service Associate T. Clark Stancil, Creative Design Specialist & Fellowship Coordinator Kelsey Broich, Creative Design Specialist Eleonora Machado, Creative Design Specialist Karen DeVivo, Editor Margaret Blanchard, Public Relations Coordinator

#### UGA COLLEGE OF

ENVIRONMENT + DESIGN Sam Nash Riggs, Downtown Renaissance Fellow, Summer 2023 Garrison Taylor, Downtown Renaissance Fellow, Summer 2023

SPECIAL THANKS TO THE RIVERVIEW FOUNDATION

#### CITY OF ELBERTON | MAIN STREET ELBERTON

Main Street Elberton works to increase awareness of the value of smalltown living through leadership and a diversity of people, business, and opportunities. Since being selected as a Main Street City in 1997, Main Street Elberton has been annually certified as both a Georgia and National Main Street. The Main Street program is administered by the seven-member Board of Directors of the City of Elberton Downtown Development Authority. Main Street Elberton is a recognized leading program among the national network of more than 1,200 neighborhoods and communities who share both a commitment to creating highguality places and to building stronger communities through preservationbased economic development. All Main Street America<sup>™</sup> accredited programs meet a set of National Accreditation Standards of Performance as outlined by the National Main Street Center.

#### GEORGIA MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION

Created in 1933, the Georgia Municipal Association (GMA) is the only state organization that represents municipal governments in Georgia. Based in Atlanta, GMA is a voluntary, nonprofit organization that provides legislative advocacy, educational, employee benefit, and technical consulting services to its members. GMA's mission is to anticipate and influence the forces shaping Georgia's cities and to provide leadership, tools, and services that assist municipal governments in becoming more innovative, effective, and responsive.

### GEORGIA CITIES

The Georgia Cities Foundation was originally established in 1999 by the Georgia Municipal Association as a 501(c)(3) organization. In December 2010, the foundation was designated as a community development financial institution (CDFI) by the US Department of the Treasury's CDFI Fund. The foundation's mission is to assist cities in their community and economic development efforts to revitalize and enhance underserved downtown areas by acting as a partner and facilitator in funding capital projects and by providing training and technical assistance.

#### CARL VINSON INSTITUTE OF GOVERNMENT

For more than 90 years, the Institute of Government has informed, inspired, and innovated so that governments can be more efficient and responsive to citizens, address current and emerging challenges, and serve the public with excellence. From Georgia's early days as a largely agrarian state with a modest population to its modernday status as a national and international force in business, industry, and politics with a population of over 10.5 million, the Institute of Government has promoted excellence in government through technical assistance, training programs, applied research, and technology solutions.

#### UGA COLLEGE OF ENVIRONMENT + DESIGN

The University of Georgia's College of Environment+ Design (CED) has been consistently ranked among the top schools in the nation for both undergraduate- and graduate-level landscape architecture. CED also provides nationally accredited, innovative, and demanding programs in historic preservation, urban planning and design, and environmental ethics. Students are challenged to explore their unique, individual interests and creatively problem-solve community issues in design charrettes. They also interact with clients, community organizations, and planning agencies. CED aims to connect its students with a large and accomplished alumni network as much as possible. Visiting professors, professionals, and lecturers provide frequent opportunities for students to network with and learn from renowned designers in a broad range of career options.



# **PURPOSE OF THIS DOCUMENT**

In the summer of 2023, the City of Elberton sought design assistance from UGA's Carl Vinson Institute of Government. Local leaders and staff members from the city and Elberton's Main Street program worked with Sam Nash Riggs of UGA's College of Environment + Design to create a vision for the future development of downtown Elberton. Known as the Georgia Downtown Renaissance Fellowship, this design assistance was made available to Elberton through a partnership between the city, the Georgia Municipal Association (GMA), the Georgia Cities Foundation, the UGA College of Environment + Design, and the UGA Carl Vinson Institute of Government. All funding for this project came from the generous support of partners at GMA and Georgia Cities Foundation as well as a substantial grant from the Riverview Foundation. This \$12,000 grant allowed this project to be completed without any cost to the local government. In 2025, the Northeast Georgia Regional Commission (NEGRC) updated the document to incorporate additional details for the downtown area that further articulate the city's analysis of existing conditions and goals.

This document and strategic planning process is intended to help local leaders and citizens visualize options for the future growth of downtown and help the City of Elberton leverage state and federal assistance through grants and other programs. The designs included in this document respond to unique challenges and opportunities found in downtown Elberton and include streetscape improvements and beautification throughout the area. Developed with the assistance and oversight of Elberton City Managers, the Main Street Elberton Manager, City Clerk, and Select Elbert. The proposed designs rethink the relationship between downtown streets and public spaces to help downtown become the economic, social, and event anchor for the wider community. Together, these designs are intended to spur community development to enhance downtown Elberton for all the community's residents.



McIntosh Street in Downtown Elberton

mann



# **SCOPE OF WORK**

The scope of work that guided the 12-week fellowship in 2023 was developed in concert with local leaders to help address issues identified by the city. The parameters for this project were defined following a site visit by UGA designers and the downtown fellow on May 16, 2023. The team was given a walking tour of Elberton, where they were able to see all the improvements the city has initiated downtown, including the ongoing renovation of formerly vacant buildings along McIntosh Street. During the site visit, city leaders identified areas that needed further improvement. The UGA design team got a sense of the many rich, historical elements of Elberton and had the pleasure of meeting local business owners and residents along the square.

In 2025, the NEGRC performed a local analysis of strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats with local government staff. Furthermore, downtown-specific goals and policies were developed and an infrastructure analysis was performed to determine if there were any major inadequacies in service provision that would hinder downtown development.

### **Elberton Public Square Traffic Arrangement**

- Elberton Public Square Plan Create a site plan showing a clarified arrangement of vehicular circulation with options for expanded green space and on-street parking.
- **Renderings** Create four to five renderings illustrating options for improving the traffic pattern and streetscape elements along the square.

### **Rear Parking / Alleyway Access Improvements**

- **Public Parking Area Plans** Create one to two plans for key public parking areas showing improved arrangements of parking spaces, travel lanes, service areas, and elements, including street trees and sidewalks.
- **Renderings** Create two to three renderings showing improved conditions at public parking areas and alleyway access corridors.

### **Corridor Improvements**

- **Church Street Renderings** Develop two to three renderings illustrating beautification options along the Church Street corridor.
- McIntosh Street Renderings Create two to three renderings showing the beautification of the McIntosh Street corridor connecting downtown to a future splash pad.





QUARRY, American Granite Company, Elberton, Georgia





The Oglesby QUARRY ... A view showing its depth and squareness of Historic post cards of downtown Elberton and nearby quarries

# **OVERVIEW OF ELBERTON**

Located in beautiful Northeast Georgia, Elberton was incorporated on December 10, 1803. The city, first called "Elbertville," was named for Revolutionary War General Samuel Elbert.

Elberton sits near the center of Elbert County, 33 miles east of Athens and 110 miles northeast of Atlanta. Elberton is known as the "Granite Capital of the World," and scores of independent local businesses proudly extract, finish, and export granite monuments and products to locations around the globe. Beyond the granite industry, Elberton boasts an attractive downtown, beautiful historic architecture, and important regional infrastructure like the city's airport and railroad. As the county seat, Elberton is home to county government offices and other critical services. Downtown Elberton features the historic Elbert County Courthouse, the Elbert Theatre, and the Samuel Elbert Hotel.

Elberton is a hub for the community events in the area, hosting celebrations throughout the year, including parades, concerts, and seasonal gatherings. Elberton is also known for several attractions, including the Elberton Granite Museum, well-maintained parks, nearby lakes and recreational amenities, the picturesque downtown square, and the legendary 20,000-seat Granite Bowl. Established in 1790, Elbert County was Georgia's 13th county, and Elberton is one of the oldest municipalities in the state. Elbert County has a rich and deep history in the granite industry dating back to the 1880s. The Elberton Granite deposit is a mass of granite approximately 35 miles long, six miles wide, and likely two to three miles deep. More than 45 quarries help the area maintain Elbertons position as the top producer of granite for buildings, monuments, and memorials.



Historic map of the Olgethorpe-Madison-Elbert granite area

# STRENGTHS, WEAKNESSES, OPPORTUNITIES, THREATS

The following SWOT analysis only applies to downtownspecific attributes and is not fully representative of the City of Elberton. The content is intended to be generalized and is used as a tool to identify goals and policies that the City can use as a framework to encourage improvement.

- Historical significance through granite industry
- Fun community events
- Unique local businesses
- Easy accessibility via state route network
- The Samuel Elbert Hotel in downtown
- McIntosh Street
- New downtown apartments

### **STRENGTHS**

### **OPPORTUNITIES**

- Empty commercial spaces to be filled
- Boosting tourism with granite heritage
- Expanding community events
- Supporting local artists for public art installations
- Remediate blighted buildings
- Expansion of downtown residential options

- Limited shopping and dining
- Limited economic mobility
- Some infrastructure needs
- Low foot traffic
- Territorial parking claims by businesses
- Dilapidated buildings (scattered blight)

### **WEAKNESSES**

### **THREATS**

- Population loss and low median household income
- Competition from nearby regional centers such as Athens and Andersonville, SC
- Perceptions of limited parking options
- Owners that don't have active uses other than storage in existing downtown buildings
- Limited nighttime activities and restaurants

## **ANALYSIS OF DISTRESS**

Elberton's central location contributed to its political and commercial standing and designation as the county seat of Elbert County. The City of Elberton was platted on a grid with the original timber county courthouse in a central public square. Antebellum Elberton was largely agricultural and slow to modernize, with tobacco and cotton serving as early economic drivers. Elberton suffered from decline and population losses in the mid-1800s, but downtown commercial development was spurred by the arrival of the railroad in 1878 and the emergence of the granite industry in the 1890s. The discovery of granite deposits was a pivotal chapter in Elberton's history and would define the trajectory of the city in the 20th century. Shortly after the county's first commercial granite guarry opened in 1882, railroad connections to Richmond and Atlanta allowed easier transportation of granite, dramatically increasing the city's growth. Between 1870 and 1900, the City of Elberton's population increased from 512 to more than 3,800 residents. By the turn of the 20th century, Elberton was known as the "Granite Capital of the World." Capitalizing on the granite industry led to increased commercial opportunities and a growing residential population, as new entrepreneurs and foreign skilled laborers moved to the area.

Although the granite industry continued to grow, the Great Depression and arrival of the boll weevil in the 1920s severely affected the area's agricultural base and hampered residential growth. The city rebounded during World War II thanks to a booming granite industry, but by the 1960s, urban renewal programs focusing on auto-centric urban patterns and sprawling strip developments north of downtown negatively impacted downtown businesses.

By the 1990s, large-scale national "big box" stores drew more business from local retailers, and by the turn of the 21st century, online shopping further diminished commercial foot traffic, resulting in an increased number of shuttered downtown businesses. Vacant storefronts have resulted in blighted conditions that the City of Elberton has proactively tried to address by purchasing several downtown properties. The combination of surrounding big box retailers, blighted downtown storefronts, and nearby regional population centers has given residents and visitors fewer reasons to visit downtown, which in turn, de-incentivizes local retailers from opening their businesses downtown.

Conditions within the proposed rural zone that are causing economic distress include the cost of rehabilitating blighted commercial properties, storefronts being vacant or used only for storage purposes, blighted properties scattered throughout the downtown square, limited shopping and dining opportunities for patrons due to vacancies and hours of operation, and public perceptions of limited parking. Limited downtown businesses result in many residents choosing to travel 35 miles southwest to Athens or northeast to Anderson, SC for retail or entertainment.

## **INFRASTRUCTURE ANALYSIS**

#### Water and Sewer

There are two areas, one along South Oliver Street from the Courthouse to SR-77 and one along South McIntosh Street from Heard Street to SR-77, where the water mains need to be replaced. They are both currently 2-inch galvanized mains. The City's Public Works Department is planning a galvanized main replacement project for calendar year 2026, but funding availability will determine which fiscal year the project will take place. The remaining areas of downtown are in good condition and have sufficient capacity for water and sewer to serve existing and new businesses.

#### Roads

The streets in downtown Elberton are in fair to good condition. Heard Street was paved in 2024 from the Square to Elbert Street. Currently, the City is renovating a portion of curbing and sidewalk on Heard Street between the Square and Thomas Street. East Church Street is in fair condition but is planned to be paved between 2025-2027. Elbert Street, North Oliver Street, and South Oliver Street are state routes and are in good condition. Thomas Street and North McIntosh Street are in fair condition. When the square renovation project is completed, the square and the portion of McIntosh Street adjacent to the square will be repaved.

#### Parking

Parking was noted among the team members as a topic deserving analysis during the SWOT analysis. Public parking in downtowns is a common focus area for cities due to the inherent nature of car-centric travel in daily life. The perception of available parking can be just as much a detriment as an actual lack of parking. The team completed a parking inventory to determine availability and location of spaces, outlined in the corresponding table. There are design improvements outlined in the "Design Concepts" section. Additionally, goals that the City would like to work toward include the following: maintain balance of parking spaces on- and offstreet, expanding street parking, expanding off-street parking lots, establishing a parking reservation program for downtown businesses for patrons or employees.

### Broadband

The entire downtown area is served by fiber optic broadband with 1GB speeds. Broadband infrastructure is in excellent condition and owned and operated by the City of Elberton.



## **GOALS & POLICIES**

The following goals and policies are designed to help the City of Elberton elected officials and staff in decisionmaking processes. They are based on the DCA's State Planning Recommendations and needs and opportunities identified in the previous sections. This list also seeks to align with the City's Comprehensive Plan.

### **Economic Development**

- Support programs that retain, expand, and create businesses that provide a good fit for our economy in terms of job skills required and links to existing businesses.
- Increase local employment opportunities through the promotion of orderly
  economic growth, fostering the attraction of new businesses and industries that
  diversify the local economy and maximize the strengths of the local labor force.
- Consider cost-to-benefit ratios in making decisions on economic development projects.
- Prioritize expansion of facilities and services incrementally.

A sketch of the Samuel Elbert Hotel



### **GOALS & POLICIES**

### **Economic Development (continued)**

- Consider the employment needs and skill levels of the existing population in making decisions on proposed economic development projects and job training resources.
- Support and encourage local entrepreneurs and artists.
- Work with County and regional agencies to encourage business education support to small business owners.

### Land Use

- Promote development that will add value to our community through design, landscaping, lighting, signage, and scale.
- Provide incentives to rehabilitate existing buildings and to construct new buildings that are compatible with the period and feel of the existing architecture.
- Strive for excellence when assisting developers, property owners, and residents to use attractive community design and maintenance as a means to enhance and support community infrastructure.

### Transportation, Facilities, and Public Services

- Work with the Georgia Department of Transportation and other local stakeholders to insure appropriate transportation infrastructure is developed and installed in support of economic development initiatives.
- Identify, encourage, and protect desirable land uses and development patterns along transportation corridors that support the downtown character.
- Provide a safe, efficient, and effective multi-modal transportation system within downtown.
- Continue to own, operate, and expand as a local internet provider to deliver high quality broadband to downtown Elberton.
- Provide potable water service in a safe, clean, efficient, economical, and environmentally sound manner concurrent with new development.
- Provide sanitary sewer service in a safe, clean, efficient, economical, and environmentally sound manner, concurrent with urban development.
- Target land and infrastructure investments to optimize commercial and mixed-use development in and around downtown.

## **DESIGN CONCEPTS**

From the onset of this project, local leaders and city officials in Elberton were positively engaged and invested in using this planning effort to build on the ongoing revitalization of downtown. Elberton deserves recognition across the region and the state for the city's creative approach to renovating and redeveloping empty buildings along the square.

Many of these beautifully restored buildings are already leased to local businesses, growing the local economy and creating a more vibrant downtown. Local officials and city crews are actively engaged in transforming formerly vacant buildings into leasable storefronts with upper-story apartments. This traditional mix of uses is helping bring a truly downtown ambiance to this friendly small town. Historic downtown Elberton features a variety of shopping and dining in locally owned businesses, a stunningly restored historic hotel, and an active art deco theater serving the community. Leafy residential neighborhoods surround these downtown anchors just outside the downtown core. For the past several years, city leaders have worked hard to expand sidewalks and streetscaping to link downtown with surrounding residential and commercial areas, including the future site of a much-anticipated splash pad complex.

The main design concept included in this project centers on the heart of Elberton, the public square. By updating the obsolete and confusing traffic pattern around the square, many of the plans, renderings, and concepts that follow could allow for a more accessible downtown for community members and visitors alike. These improvements would help this public space function better for all of the fantastic events the city provides. These changes will encourage more engagement from local citizens, grow a sense of community ownership and pride, create spaces that are safe to explore on foot, help improve mental and physical health, and provide much-needed shade from those hot Georgia summers. Continuing to invest in sidewalk expansion, streetscape beautification, and infill development could further connect the community, provide quality-of-life improvements, and enhance economic development efforts throughout Elberton. Some key corridors in downtown Elberton currently prioritize vehicular travel over pedestrians, with unsafe conditions like overly wide travel lanes and continuous curb-cuts. These areas present opportunities to improve safety by expanding sidewalks, adding safe pedestrian crossings, and making other accessibility improvements to help establish an even more walkable and attractive downtown.

PAGE 20 ELBERTON 2023 | Downtown Visioning and Strategic Plan



## ELBERTON PUBLIC SQUARE TRAFFIC ARRANGEMENT



This image shows the existing traffic pattern of the downtown square. The current flow of traffic is confusing for visitors as it includes a mix of excessively wide one-way streets, unclear right-of-way intersections, broad cut-through lanes, and unintuitive triangular traffic islands that divide the street.



### TRAFFIC PATTERN

The following plans and renderings show streetscape improvements like new sidewalks, crosswalks, and additional on-street parking to increase connectivity, pedestrian safety, and overall accessibility throughout downtown Elberton. These streetscape improvements are envisioned to enhance the area as a community destination and integrate with all of the programming and events that Main Street Elberton provides.

The traffic pattern around the square has seen many changes over the years, with the road modified for prevailing needs at the time. The streets bordering the square served as a major state highway for many decades and bear many hallmarks of highway design. All too often, highway design prioritizes vehicles passing through an area as quickly as possible, often at the expense of pedestrians and visitors wishing to park and explore downtown restaurants and shops. While the highway has since relocated, Elberton was left with a confusing traffic arrangement, including excessively wide one-way roads surrounding the square, broad cut-through lanes with on-street parking, and triangular traffic islands that make navigating downtown an even more confusing experience for visitors. While most locals know how to travel through the area, the unintuitive arrangement of traffic around the square is especially unwelcoming to new visitors who would otherwise enjoy shopping or dining downtown. City leaders sought design assistance to correct the traffic patterns around the square. The goal of these designs is to improve pedestrian safety and encourage a welcoming public square for community members by slowing down the excessive speed of cars traveling around the square, creating more obvious intersections that allow for safer and more noticeable crosswalks, and expanding pedestrian access across the area.

PAGE 23



This masterplan reimagines traffic around the existing downtown square. The center square is shown expanded into the underutilized cut-through lanes to create a huge focal point for residents and visitors to experience the events and programming the city provides. The traffic pattern is corrected and pinched in strategic areas to slow vehicles and provide improved on-street parking. Obsolete traffic islands are removed to formalize intersections, create safe crossings for pedestrians, and encourage a more pedestrian-focused experience during events. Currently, this area includes 52 parking spaces around the square. The proposed concept includes 49 on-street parking spaces. While only sacrificing three parking spaces, this concept creates a significantly larger public space, and the parking and travel lanes are strategically arranged to encourage better flow and function. The inclusion of more shade trees, sidewalks, and flexible event spaces only furthers the goal of creating a safe and fun environment for residents and visitors to enjoy.



#### **PROPOSED: OPTION I**

This design makes much more functional use of this space by extending the square into this oversized cut-through lane. Relocating parking and shrinking the oversized lane could create one large, continuous public space. This concept shows the turning radii reduced and the fountain area expanded to slow traffic coming into the square. New bump-outs and clearly marked parallel parking further shrink travel lanes to slow excessive speeding. The drive lane is shown paved with the same brick as the existing pedestrian walkways for continuity, signifying that this area can be closed off for events but is still wide enough (14 feet) for traffic to cut through the square without having to turn onto the main highway. Shown as a flexible event lawn, the new public space replicates the planting pattern of the historic square.

#### **PROPOSED OPTION II:**

This second design concept shows the flexible event area paved with brick. A similar design could coordinate with the brick paving found elsewhere in the square. This level, accessible area would provide a flexible event space for tables and additional seating.

# PUBLIC SQUARE IMPROVEMENTS

This image below shows the existing conditions of the square as seen from the Samuel Elbert Hotel. Currently, the turning radius entering the square from Oliver Street/Georgia Highway 77 encourages drivers to speed while turning into the downtown area. Slowing traffic and adding more flexible space in front of the fountain could encourage safer pedestrian conditions and create a more welcoming environment for community events around the fountain.







## PUBLIC SQUARE IMPROVEMENTS



Granite raised beds and benches in the existing square limit the ability to program the space for community events.

PAGE 28



Option I: This rendering shows the square with planters and benches removed to allow for a more functional green space.



Option II: This rendering shows the same area with a Farmer's Market event taking place.

PUBLIC SQUARE IMPROVEMENTS



Visitors entering the square from the state highway have no indication of the one-way street arrangement in this area. Wide paved areas encourage speeding through this area.



The landscaped island surrounding the fountain is shown extended to help slow traffic entering the square. The addition of crosswalks, new plantings, and bump-outs creates a transition from the busy state highway to the pedestrian-friendly environment around the updated square. This concept also shows a proposed street clock in front of the Samuel Elbert Hotel.



EXISTING: This image shows a wide cut-through lane and angled parking around the square. This area is used frequently during major events. Keeping an open lane and making this area safer for pedestrians were expressed as a top priority by local leaders.



This rendering shows the wide cut-through lane transformed into an extension of the square. This design features a flexible plaza paved with brick, extended sidewalks, trees, and a brick drive lane that could be closed for events with removable bollards.



This rendering shows the same area being utilized by residents and visitors. Keeping this area mainly open and flexible could allow it to serve as an ideal location for downtown events.



This rendering shows the same space activated with a programmed food truck event. Moveable tables and chairs give visitors the opportunity to move to sunny or shady areas depending on the season.

# PUBLIC SQUARE IMPROVEMENTS

EXISTING: This image shows existing conditions at the intersection with McIntosh Street on the east side of the square. The awkward triangular traffic islands and mix of one- and two-way access make navigating this space confusing to visitors. Special attention needs to be given to direct traffic around the square, incorporate on-street parking, and slow speeding vehicles.

PROPOSED: This rendering is an example of how effective design can be the ultimate problem solver. Extending the eastside of the square, removing the traffic islands, and adding additional sidewalks, crosswalks, and new angled and parallel parking could create an environment that is exponentially more pedestrian friendly. The new traffic pattern shown would help slow vehicles, providing a safer experience for visitors during events in the square. The flexible event lawn shown could be utilized in a myriad of ways, from providing an everyday location for visitors to sit and enjoy an outdoor lunch to creating a venue for expanded community programming. The addition of Natchez crape myrtles in the bumpouts pictured continues the use of those trees that are seen throughout the greater downtown area. Larger-canopy Chinese elms and willow oaks provide a much-needed shade canopy.

Unite




## **REAR PARKING | ALLEYWAY ACCESS IMPROVEMENTS**



View of Heard Street approaching the downtown square.

The square is surrounded by a number of rear public parking areas. Some of these lots are well maintained by the city and are used extensively by downtown business patrons. Other rear parking areas could benefit from improvements to make these spaces more efficient, welcoming, and attractive. Elberton features a number of alleyways that connect public parking with the downtown square. Some of these alleys have undergone significant recent improvements that create attractive and welcoming connections between public parking and the businesses that line the square. The designs that follow propose additional improvements to these unique and important public spaces.

PAGE 37



# ALLEYWAYS

This rendering imagines the alleyway full of life. Directional and wayfinding signage provides visitors with easy access to both the parking lot and the square. The city's branding elements have been incorporated into a mural directing visitors toward the square. The blue arrows shown mimic the triangles featured in Elberton's branding materials. Parking is identified in multiple ways to ensure visitors find their way to the parking lot behind the building.



EXISTING: Located directly off the square, this alleyway has already undergone a number of recent improvements. The alley is a prominent cut-through to a public parking area directly north of the square. Local leaders see improving downtown's alleyways as an important way to direct visitors from the public parking areas to the square, while also making these public spaces useable and comfortable for visitors







### ALLEYWAYS MCINTOSH STREET

A great deal of reinvestment and renovation is taking place along McIntosh Street in downtown Elberton. This street features an attractive mix of historic buildings, and local businesses and residents are returning to this vibrant one-way street. The city is actively renovating some of the empty buildings along this corridor to create leasable ground-floor storefronts with beautiful modern apartments above the epitome of downtown living.



Existing: Currently, this attractive building on North McIntosh Street is being renovated for a ground-floor retail space with new loft apartments above. The alleyway offers a perfect opportunity for outdoor seating for the proposed business and an attractive pedestrian connection to the rear public parking area.





PROPOSED:This concept shows the storefront reimagined as home to a smoothie shop. With new string lights and a location right off the square, the alleyway is now used for seating and a pedestrian connection to the rear public parking area. This connection could provide crucial parking space for businesses along this narrow one-way street. McIntosh Street already offers a great deal of historical charm. Active storefronts will bring more vibrancy to the downtown area. Continuing to beautify side streets like this one could lead more visitors to explore the areas off the main square, expanding the economic footprint of the downtown area. To continue Elberton's branding campaign, the lamppost banner is shown updated to correspond to the existing downtown branding.

#### **REAR PARKING IMPROVEMENTS**

### HEARD STREET PARKING

The parking area along Heard Street just east of the square is owned by the Elberton First Baptist Church. This large lot also serves as overflow parking during downtown events. Currently, the parking area is not well defined and is adjacent to a back alleyway used for waste receptacles. This space could benefit from the addition of large-canopy trees for shade and pedestrian connections to the square.





The existing parking area at Elberton First Baptist Church features a mix of paving. This area lacks any significant shade, and the parking spaces are largely unlined and poorly defined. behind the courthouse and jail.



This conceptual plan features 90-degree spaces to maximize parking opportunities in this convenient downtown lot. Additional improvements, including large-canopy street trees, make this lot more attractive and welcoming to visitors. Creating a buffer between the parking area and the sidewalk improves pedestrian safety and eliminates potential pedestrian-vehicle conflicts for drivers entering the parking area.



EXISTING: This image shows existing conditions of the parking lot located at the Elberton First Baptist Church.



PROPOSED: This rendering provides a better understanding of the changes proposed and illustrates the impact trees can make in improving this parking area. This is also one of the main entrances to the downtown area and is often used for extra parking during events.



EXISTING: This image shows another view of the church parking lot and adjacent alleyway.



PROPOSED: The rendering above shows a fenced service enclosure in the alleyway as well as the improved parking area, street trees, and a welcoming mural.

#### REAR PARKING IMPROVEMENTS

### **COURTHOUSE PARKING**

Currently, the parking behind the courthouse features an expanse of tired paving with limited wayfinding for visitors. The arrangement of angled parking and one-way traffic is an inefficient use of space. The lack of trees and shade make this parking lot unwelcoming and intensely hot during the summer months. This large public lot is used by visitors to the courthouse, adjacent jail, and nearby businesses. Unattractive features like the jail could benefit from more screening. Attention needs to be given to soften the harsh expanse of paving in this area, while making the parking lot more accessible to the Granite Bowl and the beautiful park and fountain adjacent to the stadium.







## PROPOSED: This plan shows proposed

improvements including bump-outs with large-canopy trees. This concept also includes a convenient central service area for screening dumpsters.





This image shows existing conditions of the parking lot located behind the courthouse.



This rendering illustrates improvements including new trees in existing islands and an enclosed central service area.

## CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENTS

Although the downtown square is the heart of redevelopment efforts in Elberton, the side roads and corridors connecting the city to downtown are also worthy of improvement.

Corridor improvements can work to expand pedestrian connections, extend economic development opportunities, and enlarge the footprint of the existing central hub, creating a more vibrant and engaging city environment. Increasing accessibility along these corridors with the inclusion of sidewalks, crosswalks, and trees allows for a safer experience for pedestrians and encourages more businesses to take up shop in downtown Elberton.

Sketch of the Elbert Theatre





### CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENTS

## CHURCH STREET CORRIDOR

Located one block south of the main downtown square, the Church Street corridor includes several buildings that could be ideal sites to expand and grow new downtown businesses. As home to the Elbert Theatre and the Elberton Arts Center, Church Street acts as a local hub for the arts. This important corridor linking downtown with surrounding residential areas could beautified with more trees and improved with additional pedestrian infrastructure.



Existing: This image shows the existing conditions of the Church Street corridor.





PROPOSED: With the addition of crosswalks, a new storefront, and the extension of Natchez crape myrtle plantings lining the existing planting strips, this rendering shows Church Street transformed into a lively corridor filled with vitality and opportunities for local businesses.



### CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENTS

### FORMER HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Continuing west down Church Street, visitors pass the beautifully preserved art deco Elbert Theatre and the adjacent Elberton Arts Center. Adjacent to these buildings is a mid-century gem that once housed the local Health Department.



EXISTING: This image shows the current conditions of the former Health Department located on West Church Street. This street lacks tree coverage and shade, and the abandoned Health Department building, a unique modernist building, could hold a lot of potential if properly restored. This building sits adjacent to the theatre and the arts center, creating the makings of a downtown art district.



PROPOSED: This rendering shows the former Health Department transformed into a multi-use building that could house artists' studios, lofts, and programming that could be affiliated with the theatre and arts center. This concept shows Natchez crape myrtles extended down both sides of the street to provide much-needed shade, creating a welcoming tree canopy for those entering downtown and buffering pedestrians from traffic.



#### CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENTS

## MCINTOSH STREET

Currently, the walk from the square to this area near the future splash pad would be a dangerous and intimidating journey. This area lacks sidewalks and shade, and features like wide travel lanes and continuous curb cuts create hazardous conditions for pedestrians. Despite being conveniently located for the leafy residential areas north of downtown, the site of this future park can only be safely reached by car. Targeted improvements along this corridor could make the new public space accessible on foot. The parking lot pictured features a tight one-way travel lane and double-parked angledparking spaces along a continuous curb cut. With the roadway being approximately 32 ft. wide, this area has enough space to incorporate large sidewalks and tree-lined landscape strips along this corridor.



EXISTING: This image shows current conditions at the intersection of McIntosh Street and Railroad Street. This area lies only three blocks north of the square and features a long view down to the proposed splash pad park. This configuration creates potentially dangerous conflicts for pedestrians and vehicles exiting and entering the parking area.



PROPOSED: This rendering illustrates the impact that street trees and sidewalks can make when connecting one place to another. The buffer shown provides a sense of safety while separating pedestrians from cars and the heat. Additional improvements could include a new beauty strip between the sidewalk and the road or increasing the width of the entire sidewalk to 12'. Widening this path to 12' could create a multiuse pathway to the new park, allowing for bikes and pedestrians to share this vital connection.



CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENTS

## FUTURE ELBERTON SPLASH PAD

Currently, the walk from the square to this area near the future splash pad would be a dangerous and intimidating journey. This area lacks sidewalks and shade, and features like wide travel lanes and continuous curb cuts create hazardous conditions for pedestrians. Despite being conveniently located for the leafy residential areas north of downtown, the site of this future park can only be safely reached by car. Targeted improvements along this corridor could make the new public space accessible on foot. The parking lot pictured features a tight one-way travel lane and double-parked angledparking spaces along a continuous curb cut. With the roadway being approximately 32 ft. wide, this area has enough space to incorporate large sidewalks and tree-lined landscape strips along this corridor.



EXISTING: This image shows the current conditions at the future site of Elberton's Splash Park Recreation Center. This area lacks shade and features no sidewalks or crosswalks for visitors to enter and exit safely.



PROPOSED: Thanks to the dedication of local SPLOST funds, a much-anticipated splash pad and public park will soon take shape approximately half a mile north of the square along McIntosh Street.



### **GRANITE BOWL**

The Granite Bowl is the off-campus playing venue for the football and soccer sports teams for the Elbert County Blue Devils. This local landmark lies just west of downtown Elberton between College Avenue and West Church Street. The 20,000-capacity stadium was constructed with over 100,000 tons of Elbert County granite. The Granite Bowl has been listed as an important historic site by the Georgia Trust for Historic Preservation and is considered by many to be the jewel of Elbert County.

> PROPOSED: The addition of evergreen Southern magnolias and fastgrowing willow oaks around the perimeter screens unwanted views while creating a more welcoming atmosphere.

PAGE 58







### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We extend a special thank you to the leaders of Elberton for their collaboration and support of this planning project. The **Elberton Downtown Renaissance** Fellowship provided a unique opportunity for an emerging student designer to help solve community challenges through design. Elberton is a very special city, and the dedication and hard work shown by local leaders, including Lanier Dunn, Crystal Beebe, Elberton's Mayor and Council, business owners, and residents alike, is inspirational. Thank you for allowing our team to be a part of this exciting moment in Elberton's history. We extend our gratitude to our partners at the Georgia Municipal Association and Georgia Cities Foundation for their ongoing support of the Georgia Downtown Renaissance Fellowship and to the Riverview Foundation, whose generous assistance allowed this planning document to be created at no cost to the city.

A sketch of the former Health Department building.





Carl Vinson Institute of Government UNIVERSITY OF GEORGIA